
PROCEEDINGS OF THE 
EXECUTIVE POLICY BOARD OF THE 
GRAND FORKS/EAST GRAND FORKS 

METROPOLITAN PLANNING ORGANIZATION 
Wednesday, October 21st, 2009 – 12:00 Noon 

Grand Forks County Commissioners Chambers 
 

CALL TO ORDER 
 
Gary Malm, Chairman, called the October 21st, 2009, meeting of the MPO Executive Policy 
Board to order at 12:03 p.m. 
 
CALL OF ROLL 
 
On a Call of Roll the following members were present:  Gary Malm, Punky Beauchamp), Dick 
Grassel, Steve Adams, Warren Strandell, and Doug Christensen.   
 
Absent were:  Art Bakken and Greg Leigh. 
 
Guest(s) present were:  Dean Rau, Assistant Grand Forks City Engineer. 
 
Staff present were:  Earl Haugen, GF/EGF MPO Executive Director; Teri Kouba, GF/EGF MPO 
Planner; Nancy Ellis, GF/EGF Planner, Senior; and Peggy McNelis, GF/EGF Executive 
Assistant. 
 
DETERMINATION OF A QUORUM 
 
Chairman Malm declared a quorum was present.   
 
APPROVAL OF THE AUGUST 19TH, 2009, MINUTES OF THE MPO EXECUTIVE 
POLICY BOARD 
 
MOVED BY GRASSEL, SECONDED BY STRANDELL, TO APPROVE THE AUGUST 
19TH, 2009, MINUTES OF THE MPO EXECUTIVE POLICY BOARD, AS SUBMITTED. 
 
Voting Aye: Strandell, Adams, Beauchamp, Grassel, and Malm. 
Voting Nay: None.   
 
MATTER OF FINAL APPROVAL OF BRIDGE CLOSURE PLAN UPDATE 
 
Ellis reminded everyone that a Bridge Closure Traffic Management Plan was completed back in 
2007, however, as a result of our 2009 flood event we found that we needed to do some 
additional modifications to the plan.  She explained that some of those modifications involved 
more coordination with the elevations shown for the closure/opening of each of the bridges, 
development of signal timing plans, signing additions/changes, etc..   
 
 

1 



PROCEEDINGS OF THE 
GF/EGF MPO EXECUTIVE POLICY BOARD 
Wednesday, October 21st, 2009 
 
 

 2 
 

Ellis reported that after the 2009 flood event it was apparent that there were some things that we 
were not able to accomplish at all, and some that needed to be modified or changed.  She added 
that one of the most important issues that came up involved the different media outlets, including 
both City’s websites, the National Weather Service’s website, etc., who all had different river 
elevations for the approximate time each bridge was scheduled to close, so there was a lot of 
confusion for not only the residents, but also for some of the agencies involved with the flood 
fight as to when these bridges would be closed.  She stated that we wanted to make sure that 
these issues were addressed the best way possible so there would be less confusion during future 
events. 
 
Christensen reported present. 
 
Ellis referred to information included in the packets and went over it briefly, explaining that 
there were four main changes made: 
 
1) Traffic Closure Action Elevations:  Ellis pointed out that Page 7 of the plan shows that 

they didn’t necessarily change the elevations, but they did add a note that referenced 
those action elevations.  She stated that the reason for this was because last year the 
bridges were not closed at the elevations shown due to extenuating circumstances, mainly 
the availability, or lack of availability, of manpower.  She explained that the Point Bridge 
was closed on the North Dakota Side at a slightly lesser elevation than is indicated it 
should be because it was just prior to the weekend, and they didn’t want to have to call 
people back to work over the weekend to close it.  She added that another issue was the 
weather, specifically the amount of snowfall that occurred, which caused each City to 
rethink when a bridge needed to be closed due to the speed in which the river was rising.  

 
Ellis commented that both City’s Engineering and Public Works Departments stated that 
they don’t have a problem with the elevations being published, but requested that a note 
be added to let the public know that, while they will try to stay as close to the elevations 
shown, there will always be the possibility that extenuating circumstances such as the 
weather, manpower, emergencies, crest prediction, speed at which the river is rising, etc.,  
may occur that could require that a bridge be closed earlier than expected, as well as how 
long it may remain closed.   

  
Ellis stated that another thing that affected the elevations, specifically the Kennedy 
Bridge elevation, was that earthen berms were placed on the on and off ramps of 
Highway 2 to ensure that the bridge would remain open as long as possible.  She 
explained that this is something that could conceivably occur during similar events, 
which, if done, would allow that the Kennedy Bridge elevation could be increased by 
two-feet or so. 

 
Ellis referred to Page 8 of the plan, and pointed out that an additional note was included 
that states that, again, because of unforeseen circumstances such as weather, rate at which 
river recedes, the possibility of a second crest, etc., the reopening action elevations could 
change as well. 
 



PROCEEDINGS OF THE 
GF/EGF MPO EXECUTIVE POLICY BOARD 
Wednesday, October 21st, 2009 
 
 

 3 
 

2) Bridge Closure Traffic Impacts:  Ellis referred to Page 27 of the plan, and pointed out 
that some modifications were made to the Gateway Drive corridor between North 1st 
Street/9th Avenue North and North 3rd Street in Grand Forks.  She explained that due to 
some traffic issues along this corridor during this past flood event it is now recommended 
that when the Point and Sorlie Bridges are both closed; road closed signs be added to the 
north entrance of 9th Avenue North and to the south entrance of North 1st Street, and that 
barricades be added to the center turn lane between North 1st Street and North 3rd Street. 

 
3) Ellis referred to Page 29 of the plan and pointed out that it shows what happens when the 

Louie Murray Bridge closes as well.  She explained that the changes included placing 
Type III barricades and flashers on the northwest left turn lane and the southeast right 
turn lane, using changeable message signs that flash “Stop Ahead”, and having law 
enforcement available during peak hours to relieve queues on US 2 and MN SH 220; and 
to have law enforcement available during peak morning hours to relieve queues on MN 
SH 220 and Polk County 72. 

 
4) Bridge Closure Contact List:  Ellis reported that the City of East Grand Forks’ 

Emergency Manager was not included on the contact list, however, it has now been 
added.   

  
Beauchamp asked if any traffic counts were taken to determine how much additional traffic 
crossed the Kennedy Bridge during this past flood event.  Haugen responded that counts were 
not taken during this past event.  Beauchamp suggested that counts be taken during the next 
flood event. 
 
Grassel stated that he doesn’t object to what has been done with the plan, but his question is 
whether or not these changes are the result of concerns voiced by NDDOT.  He explained that 
they received a letter from NDDOT right after the 2009 flood regarding the issue of reopening 
the Sorlie Bridge.  He said that he sat in on a telephone conference call prior to the reopening of 
the bridge in which NDDOT stated that whatever MNDOT’s inspector said about whether or not 
the Sorlie Bridge could be opened, they would agree with it, so once the water receded enough, 
Roger Hjelle, MNDOT Bridge Inspector, was called.  He was actually in Alvarado at the time, so 
he turned around, came back, inspected the Sorlie, and gave it the okay to reopen.  Now, 
everyone can point fingers at anyone they want, but a conference call was made between 
officials from East Grand Forks and Grand Forks discussing the fact that the bridge had been 
given the okay to be reopened, so it was reopened at 4:00 Wednesday afternoon rather than 
waiting until Thursday morning, but then all of a sudden nobody from NDDOT remembers 
agreeing to follow MNDOTs recommendations.  Grassel added that as far as the berms are 
concerned, the City of East Grand Forks went ahead and put them in on Gateway so that they 
could protect their side of the Kennedy in order for it to remain open as long as possible, and we 
will continue to do those kinds of things without waiting for a meeting here or a meeting there, 
and then waiting for their response for a day or two, things need to be done as soon as possible 
during those types of events.   
 
 



PROCEEDINGS OF THE 
GF/EGF MPO EXECUTIVE POLICY BOARD 
Wednesday, October 21st, 2009 
 
 

 4 
 

Ellis responded that the East Grand Forks City Administrator asked that the note regarding the 
berms be included, but in terms of the letter from the NDDOT, what really precipitated this 
update were the problems involved with getting the traffic control in place at Highway 220 and 
Highway 2 once the Louie Murray closed, and to allow both cities some leeway during major 
events. 
 
Rau commented that the letter from the NDDOT, and Mr. Grassel is correct in that a conference 
call was held that Wednesday morning, and it was determined that the Sorlie Bridge should be 
able to be reopened Thursday morning, but then all of a sudden MNDOT was able to inspect it 
sooner, and allow for it to be reopened sooner, and there wasn’t any communication with 
NDDOT regarding that decision, and that is really what they were concerned about, keeping the 
lines of communication running smoothly.  Christensen asked why e-mails and computers aren’t 
used for communication purposes rather than phone calls.  Rau responded that he realizes that 
phone calls are somewhat antiquated, but sometimes mistakes are just made, and we need to 
make sure that all the right people are notified.  Christensen commented that basically what 
needs to be done then is to have a contact list available.  Ellis responded that a contract list is 
already available.   
 
MOVED BY CHRISTENSEN, SECONDED BY ADAMS, TO GRANT FINAL APPROVAL 
OF THE AMENDED BRIDGE CLOSURE TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT PLAN.  
 
Voting Aye: Strandell, Adams, Beauchamp, Grassel, Malm, and Christensen. 
Voting Nay: None.  
 
MATTER OF FINAL APPROVAL OF SIGN INVENTORY REPLACEMENT PLAN 
 
Haugen reported that this is the final action required on the Sign Inventory Replacement Plan.  
He reminded the board that MUTCD rules require that every community develop a sign 
replacement plan, and the MPO agreed to develop one for Grand Forks and East Grand Forks.  
He explained that we accelerated the schedule to develop the plan primarily because Grand Forks 
was using some of its stimulus money.  He stated that this plan has been approved by the City of 
East Grand Forks and the City of Grand Forks’ Public Safety Committee. 
 
Haugen stated that there are some preliminary estimates on the cost of sign replacement and 
maintenance for each community included in the plan.  He commented that the only exception to 
the estimate for the City of Grand Forks is that they decided not to commit wholeheartedly to 
replacing parking signs.  He pointed out that parking signs are optional in the Manual of Uniform 
Traffic Control Devices Retro-Reflectivity Update, however our plan suggests that they be 
incorporated and included, but Grand Forks decided not to automatically include that cost, and 
instead will deal with them on an as needed basis. 
 
Malm asked if they were planning on purchasing one of the $11,000 machines.  Haugen 
responded that they were not.  He added that the method we are using deals with a signs life 
expectancy.  He explained that in addition to our setting up quadrants for both Grand Forks and  
 



PROCEEDINGS OF THE 
GF/EGF MPO EXECUTIVE POLICY BOARD 
Wednesday, October 21st, 2009 
 
 

 5 
 

East Grand Forks to allow for easier tracking of signs in both communities, we will use a blanket 
replacement based on the inventory telling us when the retro-reflectivity signs were installed. 
 
Malm commented that he attended a meeting in Bismarck recently where this issue was 
discussed, and it is his understanding that if you don’t use a retroreflectometer you have to place 
a sticker on each sign indicating when it was last checked and/or replaced.  Haugen responded 
that that has already been done with signs throughout both communities, as well as having each 
sign geo-coded as well. 
 
MOVED BY GRASSEL, SECONDED BY STRANDELL, TO GRANT FINAL APPROVAL 
OF THE SIGN INVENTORY REPLACEMENT PLAN. 
 
Voting Aye: Strandell, Adams, Beauchamp, Grassel, Malm, and Christensen. 
Voting Nay: None. 
 
MATTER OF SIGNAL COORDINATION STUDY UPDATE 
 
Haugen reported that he is just updating the board on the Signal Coordination Plan.  He stated 
that last week Columbia Road had different timing plans installed.  He explained that the City of 
Grand Forks purchased and upgraded their traffic signal control equipment, and Alliant 
Engineering came up Wednesday, and spent Thursday, Friday, and a good portion of Saturday 
fine-tuning the plan.  He stated that he hopes everyone has driven the corridor and experienced 
the improved traffic timing.  
 
Haugen stated that an open house was held Wednesday, as part of our Public Participation Plan, 
and had a reporter from the Grand Forks Herald attend.  He commented that we have completed 
the traffic counting requirements for the study. 
 
Haugen said that as the City of Grand Forks receives it stimulus grant from the Department of 
Energy they can purchase and start installing upgrades to the traffic signal control equipment 
along the remaining corridors.  He stated that once they are installed then we can go in and 
implement the timing plans for those corridors as well.  He added that all the corridors are 
scheduled to have timing plans implemented by next year. 
 
Information only. 
 
MATTER OF APPROVAL OF THE DRAFT FINANCIAL SUMMARY OF OPERATION 
AND MAINTENANCE COSTS INTO T.I.P.  
 
Haugen reported that this is an annual requirement that our T.I.P. document include information 
on operation and maintenance costs.  He explained that in the past we have been able to scrape 
by with some skimpy information, but we now have a new Federal Highway Division person 
who is asking us to beef up that information in our T.I.P..   
 
 



PROCEEDINGS OF THE 
GF/EGF MPO EXECUTIVE POLICY BOARD 
Wednesday, October 21st, 2009 
 
 

 6 
 

Haugen distributed copies of updated information, including information from Minnesota that 
was received just yesterday.  He explained that the purpose behind this is to ensure to the federal 
government that when they make investments, that we are maintaining and operating the system, 
and aren’t using their federal funds to perform operation and maintenance activities. 
 
Haugen explained that we simply use a pro-rata share of how many miles there are of federal aid 
streets, and federal aid streets for this purpose are essentially state highways, with the inclusion 
of interstates, so we aren’t talking about all functionally classified federally eligible streets, but 
are just talking about this narrow definition of federal aid which are the state highways, so we 
took the pro-rata share of how many federal aid miles there are compared to the total street 
system, and used that as a pro-rata share of the City’s budget for operation and maintenance.  He 
said that the same thing was done for East Grand Forks, but at a much smaller scale, including 
the study area between city limits and the MPO study area boundaries. 
 
Haugen stated that with all of this we do have a document that Federal Highways is pleased with, 
and are asking for approval of that document in order for it to be attached to our T.I.P.  He added 
that in the future we insert it rather than attach it to the T.I.P. document. 
 
MOVED BY ADAMS, SECONDED BY GRASSEL, TO GRANT APPROVAL OF THE 
DRAFT FINANCIAL SUMMARY OF OPERATION AND MAINTENANCE COSTS INTO 
THE T.I.P. 
 
Voting Aye: Strandell, Adams, Beauchamp, Grassel, Malm, and Christensen. 
Voting Nay: None. 
 
MATTER OF T.I.P. PROJECT SOLICITATION 
 
Haugen reported that this is essentially the start of our next T.I.P. process.  He commented that 
we have identified, with the attached timelines, when projects are due for different programs on 
each side of the river.  He pointed out that there are different deadlines on the North Dakota side 
than there are on the Minnesota side.  He added that they also sent out a generic letter to elected 
officials on both sides of the river requesting that if they do have projects they would like to have 
included in our 2011-2014 T.I.P., they get them through their local jurisdiction approval process 
and submitted to us by the deadline. 
 
Haugen commented that he also identified in the staff report, and subsequent information, that 
we have been working with the NDDOT on improving our T.I.P. development process.  He 
explained that this really affects the other two MPOs as we have been following this process for 
some time. 
 
Information only. 
 
OTHER BUSINESS 
 

1. Railroad Crossing Study Update 
 



PROCEEDINGS OF THE 
GF/EGF MPO EXECUTIVE POLICY BOARD 
Wednesday, October 21st, 2009 
 
 

 7 
 

Haugen reported that next week they will be visting the railroad crossings in town along with the 
diagnostic review team.  He explained that part of that will involve looking at quiet zone status, 
and what may or may not need to be done to achieve that.  He added that they will also be 
looking at the State Mill Spur to see what safety improvements could be done to those crossings 
to make them not only safer, but more quiet as well. 
 
Haugen stated that they have tentatively scheduled a public meeting on November 19th to present 
the results of the diagnostic review and quiet zone calculations, and to start the public input 
process. 
 
Christensen asked what kind of funding is available for this.  He stated that, as he recalls, on our 
side of the river there is about $100,000 available.  Haugen responded that the most any one city 
can receive is $125,000, but some of these crossings may not need any improvements made to 
them, and they may meet the eligibility requirements right now.  Christensen asked what that 
means.  Haugen responded that a crossing needs to have flashing lights, gates, a light-out/power-
out indicator on the cabinet so the engineer knows there is power available for the flashing lights 
and gates to work, and an item called “constant warning time” so that there is a constant or set 
pattern of when trains approach that the gates come down and the lights flash in a regular 
manner.  He said that all four of these things are required in order for a crossing to be eligible to 
be established as a quiet zone.  He added that many of our crossings meet that eligibility, and 
from that we do a risk analysis in which we calculate what the risk is without the horn blaring, 
and if it is below the national risk threshold than that crossing is eligible to be quieted and no 
other improvements are necessary.   
 
Christensen asked, if it is eligible to be quieted, what does that mean.  Haugen responded that the 
train horn would not have to blare as it goes through that crossing.  Christensen asked if there 
was any kind of guess as to how many crossings would be eligible.  Haugen responded that on 
the North Dakota side the three crossings out by the Amtrak Station do not have constant 
warning, so they would need to have that installed prior to them becoming eligible for quiet zone 
status, so that would be a cost, or improvement that would need to be done.  He stated that the 
cost of adding constant warning to an individual crossing would be about $40,000, but with three 
crossing so close together there may be discount for a bulk purchase, but that is part of what they 
will be doing next week, identifying things like this.  Christensen asked, if that got done, and 
those crossings were now eligible, what else would need to be done, and where would the money 
come from, the $40,000 plus.  Haugen responded that the first pot of monies we would attempt to 
secure would be the state legislated pot of funds.  Haugen added that there is only one more 
crossing on the North Dakota side that does not have constant warning and that is 6th Avenue 
North, along 42nd Street, but the ones in the downtown will have that added with their pending 
upgrades, and the one on 5th is already done, and then 3rd and 4th already have funds set aside for 
them.   
 
Haugen reported that on the Minnesota side there are four crossings being looked at, with two 
not even having gates on them, so they would need to be upgraded to include gates as well, but 
of those two, the Central Avenue crossing is already scheduled to have gates added, so then we 
have just one other that wouldn’t have the minimum eligibility to be given quiet zone status.   
 



PROCEEDINGS OF THE 
GF/EGF MPO EXECUTIVE POLICY BOARD 
Wednesday, October 21st, 2009 
 
 

 8 
 

Haugen reiterated that once a crossing has quiet zone eligibility, we would do the risk 
calculation, and if the risk calculation is below the nationally allowed threshold we would not 
have to do anything else and a quiet zone can be established at that crossing.  Haugen added that 
they also asked the consultant to tell us that if it is below that threshold, how much more traffic 
volume, or train volume would it take to get us above that threshold, or how long can we rely on 
that being below the national risk, because if it seems like we have a lot of cushion, then we 
wouldn’t recommend any further improvements, but if there isn’t much cushion then we might 
want to go ahead and identify what additional things might be done to ensure that it is a quiet 
zone for a longer period of time. 
 
Malm said that his one question, then, is if we are working on the three downtown crossings, 
could the quiet zones be implemented next year if everything goes well.  Haugen responded that 
if the risk calculation comes out, and we are comfortable that it is just below the threshold, then 
yes it could.  He added that part of the diagnostic review involves ironing out some preferences 
that each agency has to establish the quiet zone.  He said that BNSF has some strong preferences 
of additional things they want to see done, although Federal Railroad may not necessarily require 
that they be done, so that is something that would need to be worked out.  Malm commented that 
it is very difficult to work things out with BNSF.   
 
Christensen stated, then, that if BNSF has things they want done, who pays for that.  Haugen 
responded that that is part of the issue of whether we have to agree to have those things installed 
for the quiet zone status is what we will be working on with the diagnostic review team, and if 
we do have to include them then we would need to work out the funding arrangement at that 
time.  Christensen said, then, that there are regulations.  Haugen responded there were.  
Christensen asked if staff couldn’t review the regulations with the diagnostic review team.  
Haugen responded that they can review the regulations, but the don’t have the experience our 
consultants have working with the railroad and federal railroad administration as to how to 
implement the quiet zone requirements.  It is a very expertise skill set. 
 
Christensen commented that what he is seeing developing is that you can tell BNSF that this is a 
quiet zone, but if you haven’t met their requirements they are going to blow the horn anyway 
because they don’t want to be sued.  Haugen responded that he doesn’t know if that is a 
conclusion you would reach yet.  Christensen stated that he was just following up with our 
Chairman’s observations, having been in lawsuits with BNSF before. 
 
Christensen said, here is the risk, you are going to go through all of this, no money has been 
identified except for a buck and a quarter from North Dakota, and East Grand Forks isn’t even 
near being eligible for quiet zones, so even if it is quiet here, once they cross the river it isn’t, 
and, while it may not be as noisy at the Metropolitan Opera House, they will still hear the 
whistle, so once again we are going to do these studies, and there will be expectation that 
something will happen, but until such time as we identify the money, and it will most likely be 
on our side of the river since East Grand Forks doesn’t even have funds to hire a cop or a 
fireman, so he is real curious as to the source of the money because $125,000 buys a few 
whistles.  Haugen responded that, again, it is possible that on the Grand Forks side you will only  
 



PROCEEDINGS OF THE 
GF/EGF MPO EXECUTIVE POLICY BOARD 
Wednesday, October 21st, 2009 
 
 

 9 
 

need to invest in these constant warning times at four locations, and those four locations 
probably wouldn’t reach the maximum threshold to do that.  He added that on the Minnesota side 
there are funds set aside to improve one of the two crossings not having the minimum 
requirements, and he knows that they have already met with MNDOT and BNSF at that location, 
and one of the things they talked about was in order to establish quiet zone sooner is possible 
closure of one of those two crossings, so those are some of the things that could possibly be done 
in order to be able to quiet both sides, so the study will flesh those things out. 
 
Information only. 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
 
MOVED BY STRANDELL, SECONDED BY ADAMS, TO ADJOURN THE OCTOBER 21ST, 
2009, MEETING OF THE MPO EXECUTIVE POLICY BOARD AT 12:40 P.M. 
 
Voting Aye: Strandell, Adams, Beauchamp, Grassel, Malm, and Christensen. 
Voting Nay: None. 
 
Respectfully submitted by, 
 
Peggy McNelis 
Executive Assistant 


	GRAND FORKS/EAST GRAND FORKS
	METROPOLITAN PLANNING ORGANIZATION
	Wednesday, October 21st, 2009 – 12:00 Noon
	Grand Forks County Commissioners Chambers
	CALL TO ORDER
	CALL OF ROLL
	DETERMINATION OF A QUORUM
	MATTER OF FINAL APPROVAL OF BRIDGE CLOSURE PLAN UPDATE
	Ellis reminded everyone that a Bridge Closure Traffic Management Plan was completed back in 2007, however, as a result of our 2009 flood event we found that we needed to do some additional modifications to the plan.  She explained that some of those modifications involved more coordination with the elevations shown for the closure/opening of each of the bridges, development of signal timing plans, signing additions/changes, etc..  
	MATTER OF FINAL APPROVAL OF SIGN INVENTORY REPLACEMENT PLAN



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /All
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Warning
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJDFFile false
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /LeaveColorUnchanged
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments false
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /Description <<
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000500044004600206587686353ef901a8fc7684c976262535370673a548c002000700072006f006f00660065007200208fdb884c9ad88d2891cf62535370300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef653ef5728684c9762537088686a5f548c002000700072006f006f00660065007200204e0a73725f979ad854c18cea7684521753706548679c300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /FRA <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020b370c2a4d06cd0d10020d504b9b0d1300020bc0f0020ad50c815ae30c5d0c11c0020ace0d488c9c8b85c0020c778c1c4d560002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken voor kwaliteitsafdrukken op desktopprinters en proofers. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /PTB <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents for quality printing on desktop printers and proofers.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /NoConversion
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /NA
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure true
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles true
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /NA
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice


